Oxoniensia is issued to members of the Oxfordshire Architectural and Historical Society for a subscription price of £12. Copies of some back numbers are available and Oxoniensia is also accessible in digital format. Please refer to the journal website for further information (www.oxoniensia.org).

Intending contributors to Oxoniensia are asked to submit an electronic copy of their work to the editor, Dr Stephen Mileson, no later than 1 December each year (editor@oahs.org.uk). The editor will be pleased to advise on preliminary drafts. ‘Notes for Contributors’ are available on the website.
OXFORDSHIRE ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SOCIETY

The Society, formed in 1972 by the amalgamation of the Oxford Architectural and Historical Society (founded in 1839) and the Oxfordshire Archaeological Society (founded in 1852), exists to further the study of the archaeology, topography, architecture, and history of Oxford and Oxfordshire. In addition to publishing Oxoniensia, it provides a programme of winter lectures in Oxford and organizes excursions to places of architectural, historical, and archaeological interest. Through its Listed Buildings Committee and associated Victorian Group, the Society makes representations to public bodies, both on its own behalf and for the Council for British Archaeology, to safeguard historical buildings and monuments. The Society also convenes the Oxford City and County Archaeological Forum, which fosters liaison to discuss and advise on issues concerning archaeology and museums, monitor cases and on occasion make representations on matters of concern.

The Society’s website can be found at www.oahs.org.uk. In 2010 OAHS launched two new initiatives to promote digital access to studying Oxfordshire’s past: past volumes of Oxoniensia are now available online (the last five years only to members) at http://oxoniensia.org and the OAHS online guide to resources and societies for studying Oxfordshire’s past is to be found at http://oxfordshirehistory.modhist.ox.ac.uk.

Subscriptions (£12 individual, £17 family membership) should be sent to the Membership Secretary, 15 Harding Way, Marcham, Abingdon, OX13 6FJ, who will be pleased to supply further information about the Society.

THE GREENING LAMBORN TRUST

The Greening Lamborn Trust’s objective is to promote public interest in the history, architecture, old photographs and heraldry of Oxford and its neighbourhood by supporting publications and other media that create access to them. It supports scholarly works and smaller publications of local interest. The Trustees make grants, and occasionally loans, to help with publication costs and expenditure on the display to the public of historic artefacts in local museums and industrial heritage sites. Whilst the Trustees cannot support research costs, they can help with the expense of publishing the research when the publication will be available for general purchase. Sometimes the Trustees will meet the cost of including additional illustrations, historic photographs etc. which would otherwise be omitted. Further information can be obtained from clerk.greeninglamborn@hmg-law.co.uk.

OXFORDSHIRE RECORD SOCIETY

The Oxfordshire Record Society publish transcripts, abstracts and lists of the primary sources for the history of Oxfordshire and work to stimulate interest in archives relating to the county. The annual subscription, currently only £12, supports the Society’s work and entitles members to receive each volume published and a free visit to an historical site at each AGM.

Recent volumes issued by the Society include:
- An Historical Atlas of Oxfordshire, ed. K. Tiller and G. Darkest;
- Oxfordshire Friendly Societies, 1750–1918, ed. Shaun Morley;
- The Life and Times of a Charlbury Quaker, ed. Hannah Jones.

Applications for membership should be sent to Paul Gaskell, 28 Bulan Road, Headington, Oxford, OX3 7HT (oxfordshirerecordsociety@gmail.com). New members receive a volume of their choice from those still in print. Further information can be obtained on the Society’s website: www.oxfordshire-record-society.org.uk

OXFORD HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Founded in 1884, the Society publishes editions of historical records relating to the City, University, and Colleges of Oxford. To date over 140 volumes have been issued, of which almost 100 are still in print (available to non-subscribers from Boydell & Brewer Ltd: http://www.boydellandbrewer.com). Works published by the Society include Cordeaux and Merry’s bibliographies of the City of Oxford (1976), Oxfordshire (1950), and a supplementary volume on Oxfordshire (1981). The Society’s latest publication is Early Records of University College, edited by R.H. Darwall-Smith. Enquiries about subscription to the Society’s publications should be addressed to: Dr E.M.P. Wells, 24 Tree Lane, Ifley, Oxford, OX4 4EY (elizabeth.wells@bodleian.ox.ac.uk). Subscribers may purchase previous publications at reduced prices.

OXFORDSHIRE LOCAL HISTORY ASSOCIATION

The Association was founded in 1980 to further the study of local history in the County, and in particular to promote links between amateur local historians and academic and professional bodies involved in local history. The Association organizes twice-yearly study days and publishes a regular newsletter and a journal, Oxfordshire Local History. Further details at: www.olha.org.uk

Enquiries about the Association should be addressed to the Hon. Treasurer and Membership Secretary, Liz Woolley, 138 Marlborough Road, Oxford, OX1 4LS (membership@olha.org.uk).

BANBURY HISTORICAL SOCIETY

The Society publishes volumes of records relating to Banbury and its neighbourhood, including parts of Northamptonshire and Warwickshire as well as Oxfordshire. Thirty volumes have been published to date. These include all pre-General Registration Banbury Parish Registers, 1555—1838, now mostly out of print, but available on microfiche from Oxfordshire Family History Society; c/o Oxfordshire Studies, Central Library, Westgate, Oxford OX1 1DJ.

Recent volumes, available from Banbury Museum, include:
- Victorian Squason: The Diaries of William Cotton Risley, of Doddington, 1, 1835–1848, 2, 1849–1869, ed. G. Smédelly-Stevenson; Banbury Past through Artists’ Eyes, S. Townsend and J. Gibson

In preparation:
- Life (and Death) in Georgian Banbury.

The Society’s magazine, Cake and Cockhorse, is issued to members three times a year. Those from 1959 to 2003 are available to buy on a CD-ROM or free online at www.banburyhistory.org.

Subscriptions (£13) are payable to the Hon. Secretary, c/o Banbury Museum, Spiceball Park Road, Banbury, OX16 2PQ.
A refereed journal dealing with the archaeology, history and architecture of Oxford and Oxfordshire
Contents

Officers and Committee of the Oxfordshire Architectural and Historical Society vii
List of Abbreviations viii
List of Contributors x

ARTICLES

Historic Routes in Cherwell District, North Oxfordshire
PHILIP MASTERS and SALLY STRADLING 1

An Early Anglo-Saxon Great Hall at Benson? An Alternative Interpretation of the Excavated Evidence
ADAM McBRIDE 19

Common Carriers in Medieval England: Evidence from Oxford Archives
RICHARD SHARPE 27

William Butterfield’s Patrons and Clients in Oxford
JENNIFER HARRISON 63

The Camel that Escaped the Nazis: Paul Jacobsthal and a Tang Camel at the Ashmolean
KATHARINA ULMSCHNEIDER and SALLY CRAWFORD 87

REPORTS

Farmoor to Blunsdon Water Main: Excavations along the Pipeline Route, 2001 to 2004
JONATHAN HART 99

The Excavation of Mesolithic Flint and an Early Medieval Enclosure at Rushey Weir, near Bampton
STEVEN TEAGUE and BEN M. FORD 153

Medieval and Later Activity at Worcester College, Worcester Street, Oxford
STEVEN TEAGUE and BEN M. FORD 179

NOTES

Archaeological Work in Oxford, 2015
DAVID RADFORD 227

Archaeological Work in Oxfordshire, 2015
HUGH CODDINGTON, RICHARD ORAM and SUSAN LISK 233

The Portable Antiquities Scheme in Oxfordshire, 2015
ANNI BYARD 239

Building Recording and Test Pits at Brasenose College, Oxford
ALISON KELLY, CHRIS RICHARDSON, MIKE SIMS and ROBIN BASHFORD 247

REVIEWS

Duncan W. Wright, 'Middle Saxon' Settlement and Society; George Molyneaux, The Formation of the English Kingdom in the Tenth Century
STUART BROOKES 253

Emilie Amt (ed.), The Latin Cartulary of Godstow Abbey
MARK PAGE 254
Contents

Alan Bott, *Merton College: A Longer History of the Buildings and Furnishings* 256
Geoffrey Tyack

R.B. Peberdy

Antony Buxton, *Domestic Culture in Early Modern England* 259
Stephen Mileson

Raymond Moody, *Burford’s Churches and Churchmen* 260
Colin Haydon

Jeremy Catto (ed.), *Oriel College: A History* 261
Martin Murphy

R.B. Peberdy

Meirian Jump

R.W. Johnson, *Look Back in Laughter: Oxford’s Postwar Golden Age* 266
A.J. Hegarty

Index 269
THE OXFORDSHIRE ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SOCIETY

OFFICERS AND COMMITTEE 2016

PRESIDENT
C. Day, m.a., f.s.a.

VICE-PRESIDENTS
T.H. Wilson, m.a., m.phil., f.s.a.
J.R.L. Highfield, m.a., d.phil., f.s.a.
T.G. Hassall, o.b.e., m.a., F.s.a., m.i.f.a.
B.W. Cunliffe, k.b., c.b.e., m.a., ph.d., litt.d., F.s.a., f.s.a.
R.T. Rowley, m.a., m.litt., f.s.a., m.i.f.a.
J.M. Steane, m.a., F.s.a., m.i.f.a.
M.R. Airs, m.a., d.phil., f.s.a., i.h.b.c.
G.H. Lambrick, m.a., f.s.a., m.i.f.a.

COMMITTEE

Honorary Secretary    J. Hind
Honorary Treasurer     P. Cookson
Editor                 S.A. Milesen
Membership Secretary   P. Steere
Lectures Secretary     A. Rosen
Excursions Secretary   J.P. Hine
Honorary Librarian     J. Munby
Honorary Reviews Editor R.B. Peberdy (38 Randolph Street, Oxford, OX4 1XZ)
Oxford City and County Archaeological Forum
Sub-Committee for Listed Buildings
Webmaster              T. Dodd
Ordinary Members       N. Doggett
Abbreviations

Abbreviated titles are used in each article after the first full citation. In addition, the following are used throughout the volume or in particular articles:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Abbreviation</th>
<th>Full Title</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>BAR</td>
<td>British Archaeological Reports (Oxford, 1974–)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>BAR BS</td>
<td>British Archaeological Reports, British Series</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>BAR IS</td>
<td>British Archaeological Reports, International Series</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>BCA</td>
<td>Balliol College Archive</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>BL</td>
<td>British Library, London</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Bodl.</td>
<td>Bodleian Library, Oxford</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>BRO</td>
<td>Berkshire Record Office</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>CBM</td>
<td>ceramic building material</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ECA</td>
<td>Exeter College Archive</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>EPNS</td>
<td>English Place-Name Society</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>EVE</td>
<td>estimated vessel equivalent</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Fig./Figs.</td>
<td>figure/figures</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>f./ff.</td>
<td>folio/folios</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>FLO</td>
<td>Finds Liaison Officer</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>HER</td>
<td>Historic Environment Record</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>IoAO</td>
<td>Institute of Archaeology, Oxford</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>JMHS</td>
<td>John Moore Heritage Services</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>KC(A)</td>
<td>Keble College (Archive)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MCA</td>
<td>Merton College Archive</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MCR</td>
<td>Merton College Register</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MedArch</td>
<td>Medieval Archaeology (London, 1958–)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MOLA</td>
<td>Museum of London Archaeology</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MS</td>
<td>manuscript</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>n.</td>
<td>note</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>NCA</td>
<td>New College Archive</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>n.d.</td>
<td>no date</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ns</td>
<td>new series</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OA</td>
<td>Oxford Archaeology</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OBR</td>
<td>Oxfordshire Buildings Record</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OD</td>
<td>Ordnance Datum</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OHC</td>
<td>Oxfordshire History Centre</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OHS</td>
<td>Oxford Historical Society</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ORS</td>
<td>Oxfordshire Record Society</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OS</td>
<td>Ordnance Survey</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>os</td>
<td>old/original series</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OUDCE</td>
<td>Oxford University Department for Continuing Education</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OUSA</td>
<td>Oxford Union Society Archive</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>OXCMS</td>
<td>Oxfordshire County Museum Service</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>PHA</td>
<td>Pusey House Archive</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>QCA</td>
<td>Queen's College Archive</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>r.</td>
<td>recto</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>SMidlA</td>
<td>South Midlands Archaeology (Oxford, 1983–) [formerly CBA Group 9 Newsletter]</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>TNA: PRO</td>
<td>The National Archives, Public Record Office, Kew</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Abbreviation</td>
<td>Description</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>--------------</td>
<td>-------------</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>TS</td>
<td>typescript</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>TVAS</td>
<td>Thames Valley Archaeological Services</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>v.</td>
<td>verso</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>VCH</td>
<td><em>Victoria History of the Counties of England</em> (London, 1900–) [Victoria County History]</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>vol.</td>
<td>volume</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
Contributors

Robin Bashford, Oxford Archaeology
Anni Byard, Portable Antiquities Scheme
Hugh Coddington, Oxfordshire County Council
Sally Crawford, Senior Research Fellow, Institute of Archaeology, University of Oxford
Ben M. Ford, Oxford Archaeology
Jennifer Harrison, architectural historian
Jonathan Hart, Cotswold Archaeology
Alison Kelly, Oxford Archaeology
Susan Lisk, Oxfordshire County Council
Philp Masters, Acta Landscape and Heritage Consultants
Adam McBride, D. Phil. student, Institute of Archaeology, University of Oxford
Richard Oram, Oxfordshire County Council
David Radford, Oxford City Council
Chris Richardson, formerly of Oxford Archaeology
Richard Sharpe, Professor of Diplomatic, Faculty of History, University of Oxford
Mike Sims, Oxford Archaeology
Sally Stradling, South Oxfordshire and Vale of the White Horse District Councils
Steven Teague, Oxford Archaeology
Katharina Ulmschneider, Senior Research Fellow, Worcester College, University of Oxford
Building Recording and Test Pits at Brasenose College, Oxford

Construction works associated with the refurbishment of the existing kitchen block at Brasenose College, including the Grade I Listed Old Kitchen, necessitated a programme of building recording and an archaeological watching brief during intrusive groundworks. BGS Architects Ltd, working on behalf of Brasenose College, commissioned Oxford Archaeology to carry out these investigations between August 2008 and March 2011 in compliance with conditions attached to both the planning consent and the listed building consent.¹

The college lies within the historic core of the city and occupies the site of former medieval properties that were laid out to front onto School Street (now Radcliffe Square) and included the academic Brasenose Hall. The hall was owned by the university from the mid thirteenth century and was later acquired by the University College. The exact date of the replacement of the hall by the college is unknown, although building work appears to have been underway in 1509 and the charter that established a college, to be called 'The King’s Hall and College of Brasenose', is dated 15th January 1512.² The kitchen block is situated outside the main quadrangle of the college, where the Old Kitchen is built out from the south side of the hall (Fig. 1). The irregular angle of the Old Kitchen’s attachment to the hall, and the truncation of one of its windows, have suggested to most college historians that the former may be a survival from the earlier hall.³ Why the kitchen building might have been retained is unclear, although evidence from Corpus Christi and recent excavations at Jesus College has suggested that it may not have been unusual for the kitchens of former academic halls to be retained and incorporated into the buildings of the newly founded colleges (in the early sixteenth and early seventeenth centuries respectively in these two cases).⁴ The current kitchen and adjacent store rooms are situated to the west of the old kitchen and formed part of a major refurbishment of the college facilities that was designed by T.G. (later Sir Thomas) Jackson. His drawing of 1886, detailing buildings to be demolished, provides an important record of the arrangement of the college at this time.

WATCHING BRIEF

The watching brief encompassed the digging of ten test pits, including an extension to an existing coal cellar that was to be converted into a boiler room (Test Pit 7) and a new lift pit (Test Pit 8), the digging of pile caps for a temporary kitchen and dining marquee in the old quad, floor reduction in the old kitchen, and various associated service trenches. Most of these intrusions were relatively shallow and exposed only deposits of made ground of fairly recent date.

The earliest certainly dated features found were two medieval pits in Test Pit 7. This area had been truncated by the construction of a sixteenth- or nineteenth-century cellar, since infilled, but the pits survived beneath the base of the cellar at a depth of 2.5 metres below ground.

¹ The details of the investigations are reported in full in 'Brasenose College, Radcliffe Square, Oxford: Historic Building Recording and Archaeological Investigations Report (2014)', OA unpublished report.
² VCH Oxon, 3, p. 208.
Fig. 1. Site plan showing test pits, services trenches and pile locations.
level, where they were cut into a thin layer of loessic brickearth that overlay the gravel. They produced pottery dating from the eleventh to thirteenth century, including a rare example of a probable north French greyware jar body sherd that may be a late Anglo-Saxon import.

Also of possible medieval date were a soil layer and wall that were uncovered in Test Pit 5. The soil layer, the earliest deposit that was reached in this test pit, contained fifteenth-to sixteenth-century pottery, and was cut by the construction trench for the wall, which was aligned south-west to north-east, being on a slightly different alignment to the college buildings. The wall was trench built and was bonded with an orange brown sandy clay. It was at least 0.60 metres wide and was exposed to a depth of 1.0 metres. A return on the south side of the north-eastern end of the wall extended for 0.4 metres and may be the remains of a buttress or one side of a threshold. If the return is the remains of a buttress, it would suggest that this structure formed the southern wall of a building that once lay on the site of the Eckersley Room. However, if instead the observed terminus of the return represents an interruption for a threshold, it would imply that the identified remains of the wall are part of the north-eastern corner of a structure. Agas’s map of 1578 shows open space in this location, and as such it seems likely that this wall pre-dates the foundation of the college at the beginning of the sixteenth century. The similarity of the alignment of the wall to that of the old kitchen may suggest a common origin, perhaps in the fifteenth century, and that this structure was demolished prior to the construction of the buildings which form the old quad in the mid sixteenth century. The footings of the perimeter wall of the neighbouring Lincoln College were exposed in this test pit, and had been partly built direct on the earlier wall.

A stone-built barrel-vaulted cellar was exposed during the excavation of a service trench south of the current kitchen (Test Pit 10). The precise date of the cellar was uncertain, although it had been truncated by the south wall of the south range of the old quad. This suggests that it, too, may have pre-dated the sixteenth-century construction of the range. The vault was in-filled with pea-shingle and the route of the service trench was altered to preserve the structure in situ.

Clay pipe and pottery dating from the sixteenth to seventeenth century that were recovered from a possible cess pit in Test Pit 8 suggest that it was contemporary with the property to the south, identified by Salter as ‘Salissury’; and therefore represent the last phase of activity on that plot prior to the construction of the library and chapel in 1655–6. A pit of similar date was also uncovered in Test Pit 7.

Two pits in Test Pit 5 contained pottery dating from the seventeenth to eighteenth centuries, suggesting that they post-date the construction of the old quad buildings. These features may have been associated with the demolition of the earlier wall in this test pit, although their fills were not characteristic of robber trenches. Alternatively they may represent seventeenth-century pits in the area shown on Agas’s plan of 1578 as open space to the rear of the newly constructed college buildings, which was subsequently built over by the southward expansion of the college.

Partial foundations were revealed in Test Pits 5 and 6 that correspond with a building indicated on the 1st Edition Ordnance Survey map of 1878 as ‘Brewhouse’. A wall in Test Pit 7 was identified with the ‘scullery’ shown on the same map and on Jackson’s demolition plan of 1886, and was abutted by a second wall that was identified on the latter plan as ‘College Rooms’.

BUILDING RECORDING AND WALLPAINTING

Following photographic recording of a series of twentieth-century buildings to the south of the Buttery that were to be demolished as a component of the works, building recording concentrated on the Eckersley Room and the cellars beneath the buttery and hall, where

alterations were to take place. The cellars remain an important part of the kitchen facilities with the buttery cellar containing the silver vaults and the cellar under the hall used for wine storage. Both cellars contain elements of the sixteenth-century college building, in the stonework of the lower walling. The wine cellar underneath the hall contains three large stone columns that support the large floor beams of the hall above. These date to the late seventeenth century and it is likely that the cellar was a large open space at this time. Later alterations include the addition of brick-vaulted ceilings and walls in both cellars and the creation of shelving for storage in the wine cellar in the eighteenth century. Later changes include the addition of a silver vault in the buttery cellar in the nineteenth century and the reworking of the west end of the hall cellar in the twentieth century.

In the Eckersley Room, named after Lt. Col. Nathaniel Farington Eckersley, whose benefaction financed the conversion of the former student room into a small dining room in 1936, the removal of the existing twentieth-century wall panelling exposed the fabric of the wall. For the most part this comprised twentieth-century brickwork and a disused fireplace of probable nineteenth-century date, but at the southern end of the east wall, previously thought to have been built during Jackson's late nineteenth-century reworking of the kitchen area, a section of timber frame with early straw plaster was exposed that clearly dates to the primary phase of the range construction. Fixed to the timber frame were a series of wooden panels decorated with a series of seven- and eight-pointed stars painted in yellowish gold on a black background (Figs. 2 and 3).

The decoration extends over the chamfered beam directly above the panelling and also to a beam on the south elevation, suggesting that the decoration was only used in a space c.1.9 by 1.7 metres square. The star decoration is carried over to adjacent panelling, confirming that

![Fig. 2. The east wall of the Eckersley Room after removal of twentieth-century panelling, showing the painted panel in situ.](image)
the panels have not been moved from elsewhere. The presence of lath and plaster at differing depths seen beneath the wooden panels suggests that the panelling is not contemporary with the initial build but was added later. The ten wooden boards are c.25 mm thick and varying in size and shape, having the appearance of wide elm floorboards. They have been cut to fit around the original timber framing. A blocked doorway is set within the panelling, and was either in situ when the panelling was added to the elevation or was cut in afterwards. However, the star pattern is not divided by the doorway, suggesting that the former is more likely. The panelling is nailed to the timber frame behind using hand-made nails. Only one panel can be seen to have rebated edges, but these are not used. The lower sections of panelling are not decorated and were probably later inserted in relation to the change in floor level.

The date of the painted panel and the character of the room of which it formed a part are uncertain. Paint analysis failed to ascertain a date for the panel, but it did indicate that the stars were part of the original design and were not added later to an originally plain surface.6 Stylistically the panel would appear to be part of a seventeenth- or early eighteenth-century decorative scheme. It probably formed part of a small bedroom or study.

The Eckersley Room formed part of the original sixteenth-century construction of the college, although its layout and function are not recorded until the earliest college room list in 1747, when it was one of two rooms that were described as a 'Domus' and 'Butlers do. (domus?)'. Subsequently the two rooms continued to be used as student rooms until the twentieth century, with a brief interlude from 1886 when one was used as a lecture room. The earliest depiction of the rooms is shown on William Williams' plan of c.1732 and show the west (now Eckersley) room with study/bed closets on its north side and the east room with study/bed closets on its west side (now the passage). This may be the period from which the panelling dates, although the infilled doorway is not depicted in the correct location and the layout would mean that the decoration would be the external wall of the closet rather than inside. The subsequent history of the rooms is somewhat confused as the nineteenth-century plans are inconsistent in their depiction of the partition on which the panelling was located. It is probable that the location of the study room was at some stage different to the configuration shown on the plans and the panelling relates to this layout which is not shown on any plan.

Oxford is well provided with domestic wall paintings, which occur in a variety of locations and in greater or lesser quality.7 Painted cloths and wallpapers were also used for room

---

6 The painting was examined by Madeleine Katkov and paint samples were analysed by Catherine Hassall.
decoration from the sixteenth century. The painting in the Eckersley Room is a good example of the decoration of a minor space and is well preserved. An interesting parallel is the 1625 pew at Rycote Chapel (Great Haseley), which is decorated with a blue starry sky. The panel is an important piece of evidence for the decorative quality of student rooms in the college during this phase.

Following the discovery of the star-painted panelling, the building plans were altered to preserve the panelling in situ and the doorway that had been proposed for this location was relocated to elsewhere in the room.

Alison Kelly, Chris Richardson, Mike Sims and Robin Bashford